# University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

2012

Aggressive signalling strategies in black-capped chickadee territorial vocal interactions/Stratégies aggressive de signalisation dans les interactions vocales du territoire en mésange à tête noire.

Tyne Marie Baker University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd Part of the <u>Ecology and Evolutionary Biology Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Marie Baker, Tyne, "Aggressive signalling strategies in black-capped chickadee territorial vocal interactions/Stratégies aggressive de signalisation dans les interactions vocales du territoire en mésange à tête noire." (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 4785. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/4785

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

# AGGRESSIVE SIGNALLING STRATEGIES IN BLACK-CAPPED CHICKADEE TERRITORIAL VOCAL INTERACTIONS

by

Tyne Marie Baker

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through Biological Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2012

© 2012 Tyne Marie Baker



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-77250-8

Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-77250-8

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distrbute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

# Canada

# AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protege cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

# AGGRESSIVE SIGNALLING STRATEGIES IN BLACK-CAPPED CHICKADEE TERRITORIAL

# VOCAL INTERACTIONS

by

Tyne Marie Baker

APPROVED BY:

Dr. Jerome Cohen Department of Psychology

Dr. Oliver Love Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Daniel Mennill, Advisor Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Stéphanie Doucet, Chair of Defence Department of Biological Sciences

April 18, 2012

#### **DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP**

I declare that the second chapter of this thesis incorporates the collaborative field research of Tyne M. Baker and Dr. David R. Wilson under the supervision of Dr. Daniel J. Mennill. For this chapter, I, Tyne Baker, created the primary written contribution, with input from both my supervisor Dr. Daniel Mennill, and collaborator, Dr. David Wilson.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis, and have obtained permission from each of the co-authors to include Chapter 2 in my thesis.

I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work.

#### **DECLARATION OF PREVIOUS PUBLICATION**

This thesis includes an original paper that has been submitted for publication in a peer reviewed journal. Chapter 2 has been submitted to Animal Behaviour and is currently under review. I certify that this material describes work completed during my registration as graduate student at the University of Windsor.

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, or other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with standard referencing practices.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

# ABSTRACT

The traditional view of birdsong indicates that it functions in territory defence and mate attraction. Recent literature focuses on aggressive signalling between males during territorial song contests. Using a protocol that simulates territorial intruders with song playback and a taxidermic model, four previous studies showed that quiet song predicts attack in several species. Using this protocol, I examined aggressive signals in black-capped chickadees, *Poecile atricapillus*. I explored which signals predict attack on a taxidermic mount, a potential graded signalling system, and how individual rank affects aggressive signalling. I found song rate and *gargle* calling predict attack in chickadees. Also, song rate and *gargle* calling may constitute a graded signalling system used to communicate increasing levels of threat. Finally, I found no effect of male rank on aggressive signalling strategies. This thesis provides new insight into avian aggressive signalling and new avenues for research on graded signalling.

# DEDICATION

For the birds.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Daniel J. Mennill for his support and creative input. I sincerely appreciate the chance to complete this degree in his laboratory. He has taught me the true meaning of productivity and "mennillization" and I certainly would not have finished this thesis "in record time" without his encouragement.

I would also like to thank my collaborator Dr. David R. Wilson for his valuable input on project design, analysis, and writing. Also, I thank him for helping me learn and execute my field methods. He has been a great support and friend during my years of field research at Queen's University Biological Station. I was very privileged to work with him and I will continue to use and preach his "work smart not hard" philosophy.

I thank my committee, Dr. Jerome Cohen and Dr. Oliver love for their valuable input and support throughout my thesis. I also thank Dr. Laurene Ratcliffe for ongoing collaborative research on this study population. Thank you to the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), the Canada Foundation for Innovation, the Government of Ontario, and the University of Windsor for financial support.

I am sending a big thank-you to Matthew Battiston and Somboon Kamtaeja for combating rain and thick clouds of biting insects to make my playback study run smoothly. I could not have dreamed of having better field assistants. Matthew constantly surprised me with his ability to pick up field methods with little instruction, and execute them perfectly. Somboon consistently worked hard without a word of

vii

complaint, and always wore a friendly smile. Both are an invaluable asset to biology and academia, and great friends to have in the field.

I would like to thank Mark Conboy, Frank Phelan, and Rod Green, the wonderful staff of Queen's University Biological Station, for maintaining this fantastic facility. I am also very thankful to Vanya Rohwer for painstakingly and skilfully crafting our very realistic, very tiny, chickadee mounts. Philina English and Mark Conboy kept me safe and entertained during my stay at QUBS, and it would have been a very long, lonely winter without them and my collaborator Dave. My spring was also brightened by the many great researchers at QUBS including the members of the Bonier, MacDougall-Shackleton, Martin, Mennill, Neff, Nowicki, Ratcliffe, and Sherry labs under the "social co-ordination" of the lovely Ainsley Furlonger.

I would like to thank my past and present lab mates in the Mennill lab: Sarah Baldo, Matt Battiston, Christini Caselli, Sam Dundas, Brendan Graham, Somboon Kamtaeja, Julie Koloff, Kristin Kovach, Dugan Maynard, Anneka Osmun, Claire Sanders, Luis Sandoval, Roberto Sosa, and Dave Wilson, for their advice and input on my thesis at various stages and for fostering an enlightening environment within our team. I also thank my labmates and friends at the University of Windsor for making my time in Windsor memorable, with great adventures and sometimes even a little napkin science.

To my Mom and Dad, thank you for going out of your way to make me smile when I was stressed and for hearing me when I felt down. Thank you for supporting me in all my life's journeys and for encouraging me to go further than I could have ever imagined. You have always been and will always be my inspiration.

viii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP	III
DECLARATION OF PREVIOUS PUBLICATION	IV
ABSTRACT	V
DEDICATION	VI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XII

# CHAPTER 1:

GENERAL INTRODUCTION				
2				
3				
5				
9				
10				
13				
15				
20				
21				

# CHAPTER 2:

VOCAL SIGNALS PREDICT ATTACK DURING AGGRESSIVE INTERACTIONS IN BLACK- CAPPED CHICKADEES	24
CHAPTER SUMMARY	25
INTRODUCTION	26
METHODS	30
Dominance	30
Playback with a taxidermic mount	31
Analysing playback recordings	35
Statistical analyses	37
RESULTS	38

Up to one minute before attack	.38		
One minute before attack	.39		
Sequence of behaviours in attacker's full trials	.39		
Dominance rank and playback response	.39		
DISCUSSION	.40		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS			
REFERENCES			
FIGURES	.52		

# CHAPTER 3:

THESIS SUMMARY			
Aggressive signalling	58		
Graded Signalling	60		
Signalling Dominance Rank in Communication Networks	61		
Conclusions	63		
REFERENCES			
FIGURES	68		

# LIST OF TABLES

**Table 1.1**. Suggested aggressive behaviours in black-capped chickadees and which of

Searcy and Beecher's (2009) criteria for aggressive signals that they meet.

## LIST OF FIGURES

**Figure 1.1a.** Example of time-specific variation from a black-capped chickadee song contest featuring *fee-bee* song variants that are (a) overlapped, and (b) alternated in time.

**Figure 1.1b.** Example of pattern-specific variation from a black-capped chickadee song contest featuring *fee-bee* song variants that are (a) frequency matched, and (b) frequency mismatched.

**Figure 1.2.** Five screen captures of dominance behaviours observed at winter feeding sites during this research.

Figure 1.3. Spectrogram example of a *gargle* call.

**Figure 2.1.** Behavioural responses of black-capped chickadees to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, comparing males that attacked the mount (N = 21) to males that did not attack (N = 17).

**Figure 2.2**. Behavioural responses of black-capped chickadees to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, comparing males that attacked the mount (N = 21) to males that did not attack (N = 17).

**Figure 2.3**. Six behaviours of black-capped chickadees in response to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, shown as a time-course for the minutes preceding attack on a taxidermic mount (N = 21; values are means ± SE).

**Figure 2.4**. The dominance rank of male black-capped chickadees did not differ between males that attacked a taxidermic mount coupled with playback versus males that did not attack (N = 13, see text).

xii

**Figure 2.5**. Relationships between the dominance rank of male black-capped chickadees and their behaviour during the full playback trial.

**Figure 3.1:** Diagram showing the possible signalling decisions a focal bird and his rival could make during an aggressive signalling interaction, using the proposed graded signalling system from Chapter 2.

**CHAPTER 1** 

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

# Function of bird songs and calls

Bird song is a well studied communication system (Catchpole and Slater 2008). Birds produce a wide array of acoustic signals including sonations, which vary from the drumming of woodpeckers (family: *Picidae*, e.g. Kilham 1959) to the wing snaps of Neotropical manakins (family: *Pipridae*, e.g. Prum 1990); and vocalizations, which vary from simple contact calls of many passerines to the complex songs of wrens (family: *Troglodytidae*, e.g. Kroodsma 1977). Bird vocalizations are often divided into two categories: "songs" and "calls". "Songs" are complex, learned vocalizations, produced during the breeding season, whereas "calls" are all other vocalizations and are thought to be innate (Catchpole and Slater 2008). Together these sounds make up the complex avian communication system, and the functions of these sounds are an important area of research in animal behaviour.

The distinction between songs and calls is not only in structure and ontogeny, but also in function. Song is understood to have two main functions, mate attraction and territory defence (Marler and Slabbekorn 2004; Catchpole and Slater 2008). Females often use song performance to select high-quality mates. For example, in willow warblers, *Phylloscopus trochilus*, males that sing at higher rates during the dawn chorus attract mates earlier in the breeding season (Radesater et al. 1987). Males also engage rivals using vocal behaviours to mediate male-male territorial interactions. For example, in whitethroats, *Sylvia communis*, males respond more strongly to territorial intruders with long songs than to those with shorter songs (Balsby and Dabelsteen 2001). In some cases, vocal behaviours can play a role in both intersexual selection and intrasexual

competition; for example both male and female chaffinches, *Fringilla coelebs*, respond most strongly to complex songs (Leitão et al. 2006).

Calls are simpler vocalizations that serve a broad variety of functions. Examples of these functions include maintaining contact (e.g. *cheet* calls of lazuli buntings, *Passerina amoena*, Thompson 1976); signalling danger (e.g. high *zee* of black-capped chickadee, *Poecile atricapillus*, Ficken et al. 1978); distracting predators (e.g. *hiss* or *scream* of a female black-and-white warbler, *Mniotilta varia*, Smith 1934); coordinating parental activities (e.g. quiet calls in great tits, *Parus major*, Gorissen and Eens 2004); signalling food availability (e.g. tidbitting call of northern bobwhite males, *Colinus virginianus*, Williams et al. 1968); and maintaining flock cohesion during migration (e.g. night flight calls in a variety of species, Farnsworth 2005). Unlike songs, the function of calls extends far beyond inter- and intrasexual communication during the breeding season to encompass mundane and simple communication functions (e.g. contact maintenance) and the broader category of survival (e.g. communicating alarm).

#### Variation in signals and signaller perspective

While studying the vocal behaviour of birds, bioacoustics researchers often subdivide acoustic variation into two categories: time-specific variation and patternspecific variation (Todt and Naguib 2000). Time-specific variation refers to any variation in a signal related to the timing of signal production, while pattern-specific variation refers to any variation in a signal related to frequency, amplitude, or arrangement of the vocalization's components (Todt and Naguib 2000). Time- and pattern-specific variation can be created relative to the signaller's own signals or to another bird's signals (Todt

and Naguib 2000) and this variation creates a complex system of vocal behaviours during avian acoustic interactions. An example of time-specific variation can be seen when an animal uses its vocalization to overlap another animal's vocalizations (reviewed in Naguib and Mennill 2010; Figure 1.1a). An example of pattern-specific variation can be seen when an animal vocalizes with a similar frequency (pitch) or pattern of elements as the vocalization emitted by another animal (reviewed in and Searcy and Beecher 2009; Figure 1.1b). Both time- and pattern-specific variation in vocalizations can have important signalling functions during interactions between wild animals.

During acoustic interactions, the traditional model of communication suggests that there is one signaller and one receiver. The signaller produces a signal that transmits through the environment to the receiver, who responds accordingly (Bradbury & Vehrencamp 1998). Recently, this model of communication has been expanded to encompass complex signalling networks involving many signalers and receivers (Bradbury and Vehrencamp 2011; McGregor 2005). Understanding that many animals live in complex social situations, acoustic signals produced during a two-way, signallerto-receiver interaction can convey information to other eavesdropping animals (McGregor and Dabelsteen 1996; Mennill et al. 2002, 2003; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004a). Yet the traditional two-way model is important for understanding communication at its most basic level, before the broader network context is considered. In this thesis, I focus on the traditional two-way model of communication.

Within the traditional model, a signal can be studied from two perspectives: the signaller perspective and the receiver perspective (Vehrencamp et al. 2007). In the

signaller perspective, an animal performs behaviours that are associated with signal production. Researchers generally study the signaller perspective by examining how the subject's signals and behaviour co-vary (e.g. Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). In the receiver perspective, the bird performs behaviours in response to a signal it hears. Researchers generally study the receiver perspective by using a loudspeaker to simulate a dynamic signaller, and examine the subject's behavioural response (e.g. Baker et al. 1991; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b; Anderson et al. 2007; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b). In behavioural studies, it is very important to consider the perspective of the subject because having a specific perspective may influence the behaviours expected.

## Aggressive signalling

Previous investigations have suggested that many of the behaviours that occur during agonistic encounters are aggressive signals. Some putative aggressive signals are pattern-specific signals, such as song type matching, where bird uses its own song to match a rival's song in pattern (Stoddard et al. 1992; Burt et al. 2001; Vehrencamp 2001); frequency matching, where a bird uses its own song to match a rival's song in frequency (Morton and Young 1986; Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b); song type switching, where a bird switches between types or frequencies of song in its own repertoire (Kramer et al. 1985; Horn et al. 1992); or low amplitude song, where a bird produces a quiet version of its normal song (Nice 1943; Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). Other putative aggressive behaviours are time-specific variation like song overlapping, where a bird uses its signal to overlapping a rival's signal in time (summarized in Naguib and Mennill 2010). Finally some putative aggressive behaviours are based on overall vocal performance or ability, including the bird's ability to create or perform complex or physically challenging vocalizations (Balsby and Dabelsteen 2001; Illes et al. 2006; Leitão et al. 2006; de Kort et al. 2009).

In a recent critical review, Searcy and Beecher (2009) suggested a more restricted definition of "aggressive signals", arguing that not all vocalizations which occur during agonistic interactions are necessarily aggressive. Searcy and Beecher (2009) suggest that during any agonistic interaction, some behaviours may be submissive, others may be unrelated to aggression, and some behaviours may not be signals at all. To meet their definition of "aggressive signals", Searcy and Beecher (2009) suggest that signals must be tested against three criteria. These criteria are: (1) the context criterion, the behaviour is observed more frequently in aggressive contexts; (2) the predictive criterion, the behaviour precedes and predicts attack by the signaller, and (3) the response criterion, receivers show a distinct behavioural shift in response to the behaviour.

The context criterion can be addressed with observational and non-interactive playback studies, where non-interactive means the researchers did not modify playback during a trial. For example, Lampe et al. (1987) observed that the quiet twitter portion in the song of male redwings, *Turdus iliacus*, increases during highly-escalated male-male interactions during the breeding season, which means that this low amplitude signal fits the aggressive context criterion. In another study, Vehrencamp et al. (2001) showed that

in song sparrows, *Melospiza melodia*, type-matching occurs more often while approaching a non-interactive playback, which means type-matching fits the context criterion in this species and it is a candidate for an aggressive signal. Since observational techniques are the oldest in the field, and non-interactive looped playback the simplest to perform, many studies have been conducted using these methods and the context criterion has been well examined.

The predictive criterion can be addressed with signaller-perspective playback studies. For example, Searcy et al. (2006) used song playback to song sparrows coupled with a taxidermic mount to show that quiet song and wing waving predicts subsequent attack on the mount. These results mean that soft songs fit the predictive criterion in this species and are an aggressive signal candidate as well. Three other published studies have replicated his protocol (Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011) and found similar results, which are discussed in further detail below. The predictive criterion has only recently been given attention, and few studies have examined avian acoustic behaviour from this perspective.

The response criterion can be addressed with receiver-perspective playback studies. For example, Dabelsteen et al. (1997) found that male European robins, *Erithacus rubecula*, became more aroused when they were overlapped by interactive playback than when the interactive playback alternated with their songs, which means overlapping playback fits the response criterion in this species. Rek and Osiejuk (2011) used an interactive playback and found that when quiet calls were played back to corncrakes, *Crex crex*, birds retaliated by attacking the speaker. Therefore quiet calls fit

the response criterion of aggressive signals making them a aggressive signal candidate in corncrakes. The response criterion has been examined repeatedly, in these and several other studies.

Much of the literature has focused on observational and receiver-perspective playback studies meaning the context and response criteria are well examined. More recently studies have used signaller-perspective playback to examine the predictive criterion. Searcy et al.'s (2006) playback protocol has quickly become the standard for investigating signals that predict attack (i.e. the response criterion). Four published studies report playback experiments following this protocol to date (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). All of these experiments used a variant of Searcy et al. (2006) design, where looped song playback was associated with a conspecific taxidermic mount. The taxidermic mount was presented in the territory of a live bird, and a loudspeaker broadcasted song from beneath the mount. When a bird responded to the simulated intruder, its actions are observed up until the point it attacks the mount. The analyses involve examining the minute immediately before attack on the mount as well as a time period earlier in the trial. These time periods were compared between birds who attacked ("attackers") and those who did not attack ("non-attackers") to examine which behaviours subsequently predicted attack.

In the first experiment to use the loop-playback-with-taxidermic-mount design, Searcy et al. (2006) found song sparrows emitted a higher number soft song vocalizations and performed more wing waves in the minute before attack on the

mount. Similarly, Ballentine et al. (2008) found that swamp sparrows, *Melospiza georgiana*, emit more soft songs and wing waves in the minute before attack. Hof and Hazlett (2010) were the first to perform this protocol outside of the *Melospiza* genus and found that attacking black-throated blue warblers, *Setophaga caerulescens*, also emit more soft songs than non-attackers. Ballentine et al. (2008), and Hof and Hazlett (2010) also examined non-song vocalizations by passerines in this context, but found that none of the calls examined predicted attack. Finally, and most recently, Rek and Osiejuk (2011) studied a non-passerine, the corncrake, and found that soft calls also predict attack in this species. All four of these studies agreed that low-amplitude vocal signals or "quiet song" predict attack (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011).

#### Graded Signalling

The results of these signaller-perspective studies of song sparrows (Searcy et al. 2006) and swamp sparrows (Ballentine et al. 2008) show that more than one signal can predict attack, during an interaction; in these species both wing waving and soft song predict attack. Some songbird signals may be a part of a larger graded signalling system, where an individual can move through behaviours that indicate increasing or decreasing aggressive motivation; in this case, some of the less aggressive signals may better predict subsequent more aggressive signals than attack (Beecher and Campbell 2005; Searcy and Beecher 2009). Therefore, graded signalling may explain how some signals fit the context and/or response criterion, by increasing in aggressive contexts or eliciting an

aggressive response from a receiver, but they do not fit the predictive criterion, by directly predicting attack.

The best example of a graded signalling system has been described in song sparrows. In this species, birds show a sequence of four behaviours which, in order from least aggressive to most aggressive, are: (1) unshared song, the signaller sings a song from its repertoire that receiver does not share in its own repertoire; (2) repertoire match, the signaller sings a song that is shared in the repertoires of both birds; (3) song match, the signaller subsequently matches the exact song sung by the receiver; and (4) quiet song, the signaller sings a low-amplitude song, then attacks (Beecher and Campbell 2005; Searcy et al. 2006; Searcy and Beecher 2009). This type of graded signalling has not been studied in detail in other species, and warrants further investigation.

## The black-capped chickadee

The black-capped chickadee is an interesting passerine that is a year-round resident throughout most of Canada and the northern United States. The annual cycle of the chickadee involves two different social contexts: the fall/winter flock and the spring/summer breeding pairs (Smith 1991). In late fall and winter, chickadees travel through a home-range in flocks of 3-12 individuals (Glase et al. 1973). In the winter flock, birds form a social dominance hierarchy through social interactions, which can be observed by researchers at feeding sites (Smith 1991; Ratcliffe et al. 2007; for examples see figure 1.2). More dominant or high-ranking individuals gain the benefit of feeding before other flock members and often get to forage in safer areas than low-ranking individuals (Ficken et al. 1990; Desrochers 1989). Social rank has also been associated

with a variety of individual characteristics during the subsequent breeding season, including mate attraction, mating success, extra pair paternity, and resource holding potential (summarized in Ratcliffe et al. 2007). Of particular importance to this study, rank is also associated with vocal behaviour: more dominant males have a higher song output during dawn chorus (Otter et al. 1997), they maintain a more stereotyped song when transposing between frequencies (Christie et al. 2004), they show less agitation to simulated intruders (Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b), and they more readily approach a rival that overlaps and frequency matches another simulated opponent (Mennill and Ratcliffe 2003, 2004a).

n the early spring, the dominance-structured flocks of chickadees break up and individuals form breeding pairs that split the flock's former home-range into territories (Smith 1991). Vocal behaviour increases at this time of year as males sing a simple *feebee* song from inside their territories to ward off rival males and attract females (Ficken et al. 1978; Mennill & Otter 2007; examples given in Figure 1.1a, b). During the dawn chorus and subsequent territorial contests, males display a variety of vocal behaviours. Male black-capped chickadees show several notable variants in their singing behaviour. Chickadees sometimes overlap the songs of their competitors by producing a song that interferes with their competitor's song in time (Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a; Foote et al. 2008). Chickadees can also emit songs that match the frequency of their competitor's songs (Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a; Foote et al. 2008). They can shift the frequency of their own songs relative to the song they sang previously (Horn et al. 1992; Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994). Finally, they sometimes emit non-song vocalizations, including the *gargle* 

call, during these interactions (Figure 1.3; Ficken et al. 1978; Baker and Gammon 2007). These behaviours can occur during song contests and are suggested as potential aggressive signals by literature using observational and receiver-perspective playback techniques. Table 1.1 summarizes the existing literature on potential aggressive signals. Most published studies support the context criterion and the response criterion; in chickadees few behaviours have been studied from the predictive criterion.

Previous chickadee research has provided information on which signals might be aggressive, as well as which signals might comprise a graded signalling system. A receiver perspective experiment by Otter et al. (2002) suggested that overlapping and frequency matching form a graded signalling system in black-capped chickadees. In their experiment they found that overlapping playback elicited a greater receiver response than looped non-interactive playback, and that frequency matching and overlapping playback elicited an even greater response than overlapping playback (Otter et al. 2002). Fitzsimmons et al. (2008a) found support for this in an observational study on the diurnal song contests of males, where they found that contests with frequency matching contained significantly more overlaps, and that overlapping consistently preceded matching. These studies suggest that the graded signalling system includes, in order from least aggressive to most aggressive: song, then overlapping song, and finally frequency-matched song. No signaller perspective studies have examined graded signalling in this species.

Previous authors have suggested that the relevant social context for these acoustic behaviours is a communication network. This network includes male rivals and

other eavesdropping birds, which can be both male and female. Experiments have demonstrated that eavesdropping informs subsequent reproductive or territorial behaviours of male and female birds (Mennill et al. 2002, 2004; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2003, 2004a; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b; Foote et al. 2010). If signalling males can emit both aggressive signals and other signals for intrasexual competition and intersexual selection, i.e. status or quality related signals, during agonistic interactions, this might explain why some signals occur frequently in countersinging exchanges or elicit an aggressive response from receiver males, i.e. fit the context or response criterion of aggressive signals, but do not fit the predictive criterion. Though I use a simplified signaller-receiver interaction, I will examine how social status affects aggressive signalling behaviours and keep signalling networks in mind while examining my results.

## Thesis objectives

When examining territorial behaviour it is important to have specific criteria for determining aggressive signals. Searcy and Beecher (2009) provide specific criteria for determining aggressive signals during territorial countersinging encounters in songbirds. In my thesis, I assess the singing behaviour of chickadees from the signaller perspective, using Searcy and Beecher's (2009) criteria for measuring aggressive signals. This species is an ideal system for this investigation because social dominance, a correlate of many reproductive related traits, allows me to understand whether variation in aggressive signalling varies with individual status. In this thesis, I examine the relationship between male dominance and male vocal behaviour. This is the first study to couple research on individual quality (in this case, dominance) to signalling behaviour following the

experimental design of Searcy et al. (2006). Furthermore, by studying this species I can examine the graded signalling system suggested in previous literature in a predictive context. Through this thesis, I hope to add to our understanding of aggressive signalling in black-capped chickadees.

In my thesis I examine and describe the aggressive signalling strategies of male black-capped chickadees. This research has three main objectives:

- Examine which signals predict attack in the territorial vocal interactions of black-capped chickadees and therefore fulfill Searcy and Beecher's (2009) predictive criterion of aggressive signals.
- 2. Explore the potential for a graded aggressive signalling system in the territorial countersinging behaviour of black-capped chickadees.
- Describe any relationship between dominance and aggressive signalling strategies during territorial countersinging exchanges in black-capped chickadees.

To accomplish these research goals I used a signaller-perspective playback design by Searcy et al. (2006) to engage male black-capped chickadees in territorial interactions. This experiment involves emitting a looped song playback in conjunction with the presentation of a conspecific taxidermic model to simulate territorial intruder. I compare birds that attack the mount to males that do not attack to address the first two objectives. Careful dominance observations throughout the winter, preceding the playback experiment, allow me to compare male dominance rank and the signalling behaviours to address the third objective.

# REFERENCES

Anderson, R.C., Nowicki, S., & Searcy, W. A. 2007. Soft song in song sparrows: response of males and females to an enigmatic signal. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 61, 1267-1274.

Baker, M. C. & Gammon, D. E. 2007. The gargle call of black-capped chickadees: Ontogeny, acoustic structure, population patterns, function and processes leading to sharing of call characteristics. In Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 167-182. New York: Oxford University Press.

Baker, M. C., Boylan, J. T. & Goulart, C. A. 1991. Effects of gargle vocalizations on the behaviour of black-capped chickadees. The Condor, 93, 62-70.

Baker, M. C., Tracy, T. T. & Miyasato, L. E. 1996. Gargle vocalizations of black-capped chickadees: test of repertoire and video stimuli. Animal Behaviour, 52, 1171-1175.

Ballentine, B., Searcy, W. A. & Nowicki, S. 2008. Reliable aggressive signalling in swamp sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 75, 693-703.

Balsby, T. J. S. & Dabelsteen, T. 2001. The meaning of song repertoire size and song length to male whitethroats Sylvia communis. Behavioural Processes, 56, 75-84.

Beecher, M., and Campbell, S. 2005. The role of unshared songs in singing interactions between neighbouring song sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 70: 1297-1304.

Bradbury, J. W. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 1998. Principles of Animal Communication. 1st edn. Sutherland: Sinauer Associates.

Bradbury, J. W. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 2011. Principles of Animal Communication. 2nd edn. Sutherland: Sinauer Associates.

Burt, J. M., Campbell, S. E. & Beecher, M. D. 2001. Song type matching as threat: a test using interactive playback. Animal Behaviour, 62, 1163–1170.

Catchpole, C. K. & Slater, P. J. B. 2008. *Bird Song: Biological themes and variations*. 2nd edn. Cambridge: University Press.

Christie, P. J., Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004. Pitch shifts and song structure indicate male quality in the dawn chorus of black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 55, 341-348

Dabelsteen, T., McGregor, P. K., Holland, J., Tobias, J. A., Pedersen, B. 1997. The signal function of overlapping singing in male robins. Animal Behaviour, 53, 249-253.

Desrochers, A. 1989. Sex, dominance and microhabitat use in wintering black-capped chickadees: A field experiment. Ecology, 70, 636-645.

Farnsworth, A. 2005. Flight calls and their value for future ornithological studies and conservation research. The Auk, 122, 733-746.

Ficken, M. S., Ficken, R. W., and Witkin, S. R. 1978. Vocal Repertoire of the black-capped chickadee. The Auk, 95, 34-48.

Ficken, M. S., Weise, C. M. & Reinartz, J. A. 1987. A complex vocalization of the black-capped chickadee. II. Repertoires, dominance and dialects. Condor, 89, 500-509.

Ficken, M. S., Weise, C. M. & Popp, J. W. 1990. Dominance rank and resource access in winter flocks of black-capped chickadees. Wilson Bulletin, 102, 623-633.

Fitzsimmons L. P., Foote J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M., & Mennill, D. J. 2008a. Frequency matching, overlapping, and movement behaviour in diurnal countersinging interactions of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behaviour, 75, 1913-1920.

Fitzsimmons, L. P., Foote, J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Mennill, D. J. 2008b. Eavesdropping and communication networks revealed through playback and an acoustic location system. Behavioral Ecology, 19, 824-829.

Foote, J.R., Fitzsimmons, L. P., Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2008. Male chickadees match neighbors interactively at dawn: support for the social dynamics hypothesis. Behavioral Ecology, 19, 1192-1199.

Foote, J. R., Fitzsimmons L. P., Mennill, D. J., & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2010. Black-capped chickadee dawn choruses are interactive communication networks. Behaviour, 147, 1219-1248.

Glase, J. C. 1973. Ecology of social organization in the black-capped chickadee. Living Bird, 12, 235-267.

Gorissen, L. & Eens, M. 2004. Interactive communication between male and female great tits (Parus major) during the dawn chorus. The Auk, 121, 184-191.

Hof, D. & Hazlett, N. 2010. Low-amplitude song predicts attack in a North American wood warbler. Animal Behaviour, 80, 821-828.

Horn, A. G., Leonard, M. L., Ratcliffe, L., Shackleton, S.A. & Weisman, R. G. 1992. Frequency Variation in Songs of Black-Capped Chickadees (Parus atricapillus). The Auk, 109, 847-852.

Illes, A. E., Hall, M. L. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 2006. Vocal performance influences male receiver response in the banded wren. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 273, 1907–1912.

Kilham, L. 1959. Behavior and methods of communication of Pileated Woodpeckers. Condor, 61, 377-387.

Kramer, H. G., Lemon, R. E. & Morris, M. J. 1985. Song switching and agonistic stimulation in the song sparrow (Melospiza melodia): Five tests. Animal Behaviour, 33, 135–149.

de Kort, S. R., Eldermire, E. R. B., Cramer, E. R. A. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 2009. The deterrent effect of bird song in territory defense. Behavioral Ecology, 20,200–206.

Kroodsma, D. E. 1977. Correlates of song organization among North American wrens. The American Naturalist, 111, 995-1008.

Lampe, H. M. and Espmark, Y. O. 1987. Singing activity and song pattern of the Redwing Turdus iliacus during the breeding season. Ornis Scandinavia, 18, 179-185.

Leitão, A., ten Cate, C. & Riebel, K. 2006. Within-song complexity in a songbird is meaningful to both male and female receivers. Animal Behaviour, 71, 1289-1296.

Marler, P. & Slabbekoorn, H. W. 2004. Nature's music: The science of birdsong. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press.

McGregor, P. 2005. Animal Communication Netoworks. Cambridge: University Press.

McGregor, P. K., Dabelsteen, T. 1996. Communication networks. In Ecology and evolution of acoustic communication in birds (Eds. Kroodsma, D. E., Miller, E. D.), pp 409–425. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Mennill, D. J. & Otter, K. A. 2007. Status signalling and communication networks in chickadees: Complex communication with simple song. In Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 215-234. New York: Oxford University Press.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004a. Do male black-capped chickadees eavesdrop on song contests? A multi-speaker playback experiment. Behaviour, 141, 125-139.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004b. Overlapping and matching in the song contests of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behavior, 67, 441-450.

Mennill, D. J., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Boag, P. T. 2002. Female eavesdropping on male song contests in songbirds. Science, 296, 873.

Mennill, D. J., Boag, P. T. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2003. The reproductive choices of eavesdropping female black-capped chickadees, Poecile atricapillus. Die Naturwissenschaften, 90, 577-582.

Mennill, D. J., Ramsay, S. M., Boag P. T., Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004. Patterns of extrapair mating in relation to male dominance status and female nest placement in black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology, 15, 757-765.

Morton, E. S. & Young, K. 1986. A previously undescribed method of song matching in a species with a single song 'type', the Kentucky warbler (Oporornis formosus). Ethology, 73, 334–342.

Nice, M. M. 1943. Studies in the life history of the song sparrow. II. The behavior of the song sparrow and other passerines. Transactions of the Linnean Society of New York, 6, 1–328.

Naguib, M., & Mennill, D. J. 2010. The signal value of birdsong: empirical evidence suggests song overlapping is a signal. Animal Behaviour, 80, e11-e15.

Otter, K., Chruszcz, B. & Ratcliffe, L. 1997. Honest advertisement and song output during the dawn chorus of black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology, 8, 167-173.

Otter, K. A., Ratcliffe, L., Njegovan, M., Fotheringham, J. 2002. Importance of frequency and temporal song matching in black-capped chickadees: Evidence from interactive playback. Ethology, 108, 181-191.

Popp, J. W., Ficken, M. S. & Weise, C. M. 1990. How are agonistic encounters among black-capped chickadees resolved? Animal Behaviour, 39, 980-986.

Prum, R. O. 1990. : Phylogenetic analysis of the evolution of display behavior in the Neotropical manakins (aves: Pipridae). Ethology, 84, 202-231.

Radesater, T., Jakobsson, S., Andbjer, N., Bylin, A. & Nystrom, K. 1987. Song rate and pair formation in the willow warbler, Phylloscopus-trochilus. Animal Behaviour, 35, 1645-1651.

Ratcliffe, L., Mennill, D. J., and Shubert, K. A. 2007. Social dominance and fitness in blackcapped chickadees. In: The Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 131-146. Toronto: Oxford University Press.

Rek, P. & Osiejuk, T. S. 2011. Nonpasserine bird produces soft calls and pays retaliation cost. Behavioral Ecology, 22, 657-662.

Searcy, W. A. & Beecher, M. D. 2009. Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. Animal Behaviour, 78, 1281-1292.

Searcy, W. A., Anderson, R. C., and Nowicki, S. 2006. Bird song as a signal of aggressive intent. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 60, 234-241.

Shackleton, S. A. & Ratcliffe, L. 1994. Matched counter-singing signals escalation of aggression in black-capped chickadees (Parus atricapillus). Ethology, 97, 310–316.

Smith S. M. 1991. The Black-capped Chickadee: Behavioral ecology and natural history. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.

Smith, W. P. 1934. Observations of the nesting habits of the Black-and-white Warbler. Bird Banding 5:31-35.

Stoddard, P. K., Beecher, M. D., Cambell, S. E., and Horning, C. L. 1992. Song-type matching in the song sparrow. Canadian Journal of Zoolology, 70, 1440- 1444

Thompson, W. L. 1976. Vocalizations of the Lauzuli Bunting. The Condor, 78, 195-207.

Todt, D., and Naguib, M. 2000. Vocal interactions in birds: The use of song as a model in communication. Advances in the Study of Behaviour, 29, 247-296.

Vehrencamp, S. L. 2001. Is song-type matching a conventional signal of aggressive intentions? Proceedings: Biological Sciences, 1476, 1637-1642.

Vehrencamp, S. L., Hall, M. L., Bohman, E. R., Depeine, C. D. & Dalziell, A. H. 2007. Song matching, overlapping and switching in the banded wren: the sender's perspective. Behavioral Ecology, 18, 849-859.

Williams, H. W., Stokes, A. W. & Wallen, J. C. 1968. The food call and display of the bobwhite quail (Colinus virginianus). The auk, 85, 464-476.

# TABLES

**Table 1.1** Suggested aggressive behaviours in black-capped chickadees and which of Searcy and Beecher's (2009) criteria for aggressive signals that they meet. These criteria are (1) the context criterion, (2) the predictive criterion, and (3) the response criterion.

Behaviour	Criteria met	Reference	Pattern
Song rate	1	Mennill & Ratcliffe 2004b, Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b	Males respond to simulated intruders by increasing song rate.
Gargle calls	1, 3	Ficken et al. 1978	Increase distance between signaller and receiver.
	2	Ficken et al. 1987, Popp et al. 1990	Birds who <i>gargle</i> win agonistic interactions, and more dominant males <i>gargle</i> more often.
	3	Baker et al. 1991	Dominant males are deterred by subordinate's unfamiliar <i>gargle</i> s.
	3	Baker et al. 1996	Males are more adverse to simulated males with larger gargle repertoires.
	1	Baker and Gammon 2007, Ficken et al. 1987	Males are heard having "gargling contests" at the borders of adjacent breeding territories.
Overlapping	3	Mennill & Ratcliffe 2004a	Males preferentially approach a simulated male who overlaps another rival male.
	None	Mennill & Ratcliffe 2004b	Males sing more variably timed songs in response to overlapping playback.
	None	Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a, Foote et al. 2008	Overlapping song occurs in territorial countersinging exchanges.
	3	Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b	Males sing more in response to a simulated pair of rival males when the interaction includes overlapping song.
Frequency shifts	None	Horn et al. 1992	Males may frequency shift to match rivals. Also, more frequency shifts may indicate multiple contests with multiple rivals.
Frequency Matching	1	Shackleton & Ratcliffe 1994	Frequency matching is associated with conflict escalation.
	None	Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a, Foote et al. 2008	Frequency matching occurs in territorial countersinging exchanges.
	3	Otter et al. 2002, Mennill & Ratcliffe 2004a	Males are more agitated in response to a simulated frequency matching rival.
	3	Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b	Males sing more in response to a simulated pair of rival males when the interaction includes frequency matched song.
Passing over opponent	None	Mennill & Ratcliffe 2004b	Used as a measure of aggressive response playback study.

# FIGURES



**Figure 1.1a:** Example of time-specific variation from a black-capped chickadee song contest featuring *fee-bee* song variants that are (a) overlapped, and (b) alternated in time. The white bars indicate the signaller and the black bars indicate his rival. Each mark on the y-axis denotes 1 kHz. Each mark on the x-axis denotes 1 second.



**Figure 1.1b:** Example of pattern-specific variation from a black-capped chickadee song contest featuring *fee-bee* song variants that are (a) frequency matched, and (b) frequency mismatched. The white bars indicate the signaller and the black bars indicate his rival. Each mark on the y-axis denotes 1 kHz. Each mark on the x-axis denotes 1 second.


**Figure 1.2:** Five screen captures of dominance behaviours observed at winter feeding sites during this research. The subsequent movement of the dominant male is marked with red arrows, and a red dot marks a dominant male stopping or staying at that location. Any subsequent movement of the subordinate is marked with yellow arrows, and a yellow dot marks a subordinate male stopping or staying at that location. These behaviours are based on standard dominance observations used in previous research (Smith 1991; Ratcliffe et al. 2007) and are as follows: (a) a dominant chickadee supplants a subordinate chickadee, (b) a dominant chickadee resists being supplanted by a subordinate chickadee, (c) a dominant chickadee chases a subordinate chickadee, (d) a dominant chickadee elicits a submissive posture from a subordinate chickadee, and (e) a dominant chickadee feeds while a subordinate chickadee waits.



**Figure 1.3:** Spectrogram example of a *gargle* call. Each tick on the y-axis denotes 1 kHz. Each tick on the x-axis denotes 100ms.

CHAPTER 2

# VOCAL SIGNALS PREDICT ATTACK DURING AGGRESSIVE INTERACTIONS IN BLACK-CAPPED CHICKADEES

#### CHAPTER SUMMARY

Animals use a variety of aggressive signals to mediate territorial interactions. Often these signals can be sufficient to ward off potential rivals, thus minimizing the chance of injury due to physical encounters. Yet not all behaviours are aggressive signals during territorial interactions; some may be submissive signals or unrelated signals, and others may not be signals at all. In this investigation, we examined the aggressive signals of black-capped chickadees by determining which signals predict attack on a competitor. We employed a recently-developed playback protocol involving a loudspeaker and a taxidermic mount to simulate an intruder on males' breeding territories. We examined males' behaviours prior to any physical attack on the mount, both in the minute before attack as well as the time period preceding this minute. In the minute before attack, we found that gargle calls consistently predicted attack. In the preceding time period, we found that high song rate predicted attack. Surprisingly, we found that attack and the behaviours associated with attack were not significantly correlated with male dominance status. We conclude that song rate and gargle calling behaviour act as aggressive signals for all males during territorial interactions in black-capped chickadees. These results expand our knowledge of aggressive signals during territorial encounters, revealing novel vocalizations used to communicate a male's probability to attack.

#### INTRODUCTION

Many animals use acoustic signals to defend resources such as breeding and foraging territories. In some cases, acoustic signals are sufficient to deter rivals (Krebs 1977; Krebs et al. 1978; Yasukawa 1981; Arak 1985; Perrill et al. 1982), thereby avoiding physical conflict and preventing injury of both signaller and receiver (Maynard Smith and Price 1973). Species as diverse as gibbons (genus: *Hylobates*; Marshall and Marshall 1976), treefrogs (genus: *Hyla*; Martins and Haddad 1988; Wells and Schwartz 1984), field crickets (family: *Gryllidae*; Alexander 1961), and birds (order: Passeriformes; Gil and Gahr 2002) use vocalizations as a primary means of territory defence. Yet not all signals that occur in territory defence can be deemed aggressive because not all interactions result in physical altercation (Searcy and Beecher 2009). Signals that are aggressive should be evolutionarily constrained by receiver retaliation costs, where the most aggressive signals are expected to incite physical approach or attack from signal receivers (Maynard Smith and Price 1973; Enquist 1985; Vehrencamp 2001).

Songbirds present an excellent example of a complex vocal communication system in which aggressive signals have been examined. Many territorial songbird species advertise their presence on and willingness to defend a breeding territory by broadcasting loud acoustic signals to potential rivals (reviewed in Marler and Slabbekoorn 2004; Catchpole and Slater 2008). Experiments where males have been replaced by speakers broadcasting song demonstrate that these vocalizations, alone, are often sufficient to deter or delay intrusions by territorial rivals (Goransson et al. 1974; Krebs 1977; Krebs et al. 1978; Yasukawa 1981). Songbirds can also communicate their

level of motivation by using various types of vocalizations in a system of graded signals. For example, song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) can produce a non-aggressive vocal signal by singing a song type that does not match their neighbour's songs, a moderately aggressive signal by producing a song type that is shared with their neighbour, a highly aggressive signal by matching the song type that their neighbour just produced, and their most aggressive signal by producing a quiet song that indicates imminent physical attack (Beecher and Campbell 2005; Searcy et al. 2006, Searcy and Beecher 2009).

It can be difficult for behaviourists to distinguish aggressive signals from other signals that occur during the territorial contests of male birds. Searcy and Beecher (2009) suggest three criteria for deciding whether a particular signal should be considered aggressive: (1) the context criterion, i.e. the signal increases during interactions which include physical altercations; (2) the predictive criterion, i.e. the signal predicts attack by the signaller; and (3) the response criterion, i.e. the receiver's behaviour changes in response to the signal. Search and Beecher (2009) argue that a signal must fulfil all three of these criteria to be deemed an aggressive signal. Examples of signals that fulfil the context and response criteria are those that match the frequency or pattern of an opponent's signal (e.g. Krebs et al. 1981; Stoddard et al. 1992; Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994), those that overlap an opponent's signal in time (e.g. Todt 1981; Hall et al. 2006; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004a), and those that are emitted at low amplitude (e.g. Dabelsteen and Pedersen 1990; Anderson et al. 2007). Although the context and receiver criteria have been studied frequently, behaviourists have only recently focused on the predictive criterion. Using a signaller perspective playback

designed by Searcy et al. (2006), researchers have recently examined the predictive criterion in four species and found that quiet vocalizations predict attack in all four (song sparrow: Searcy et al. 2006; swamp sparrow, *M. georgiana*: Ballentine et al. 2008; black-throated blue warbler, *Setophaga caerulescens*: Hof and Hazlett 2010; corncrake, *Crex crex*: Rek and Osiejuk 2011).

The experimental design presented by Searcy et al. (2006) involves looped song playback and a taxidermic mount to simulate a male intruding on another male's territory. This design creates the potential for an aggressive context by providing a simulated rival against which the subject can aggress. This design is non-interactive (i.e. the playback does not vary in response to the signals produced by the subject; Mennill & Ratcliffe 2000) allowing researchers to examine how males behave while emitting a vocal signal, i.e. examine vocal behaviour from the signaller perspective (Vehrencamp et al. 2007). By examining the minute before the subject attacks the model, researchers can explore which of the subject's behaviours predict attack and thereby assess the predictive criterion for aggressive signalling. In all four studies that have used this experimental design to date, quiet songs consistently predicted attack (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). Additionally, in song and swamp sparrows the visual signal of wing waving predicted attack (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008). To date, no other vocal or visual signals have been shown to directly predict attack in birds, in spite of the wide diversity of signalling behaviours associated with territorial interactions (reviewed in Todt and Naguib 2000).

In this study, we explore aggressive signals in the territorial interactions of blackcapped chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*) using the predictive criterion framework. The singing interactions of chickadees are well studied (reviewed in Mennill and Otter 2007). In spring, males defend territories from rivals using their "fee-bee" song and during these territorial interactions they often exhibit a variety of vocal behaviours which fulfil the context criteria of aggressive signals, including: song frequency matching, when a male adjusts the frequency of his song to match that of his rival; song overlapping, when a male adjusts the timing of his song to overlap his rival's song in time; and producing other non-song vocalizations, such as the gargle call (Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a; Ficken et al. 1978; Baker and Gammon 2007). Playback experiments from the receiver perspective reveal that male chickadees approach the loudspeaker and sing more when presented with overlapping and/or frequencymatched playback compared to non-overlapping or non-matching playback (e.g. Otter et al. 2002; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004a, b; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b). Therefore, in addition to meeting the context criterion, overlapping and frequency matching also fit the response criterion. However, none of these behaviours have been examined from the predictive criterion.

We used the playback design developed by Searcy et al. (2006) to examine which male behaviours fulfilled the predictive criterion of aggressive signals. By delivering loop playback in conjunction with a taxidermic mount, we explored behaviours that occurred in the minute preceding attack, as well as behaviours that occurred throughout the remaining portion of the experimental trials. Knowing that social status is an important

influence on signalling behaviours in chickadees (reviewed in Mennill and Otter 2007), we also quantified each male's dominance, based on interactions with members of his winter flock, and compared it to his signalling behaviour and propensity to attack. This is the first study to examine countersinging behaviour using the predictive criterion (and the signaller perspective) in this well-studied temperate songbird.

#### METHODS

We studied a population of black-capped chickadees at Queen's University Biological Station (44°34'N, 76°19'W), north of Kingston, Ontario, Canada, between January and May, 2011. This population of chickadees has been studied annually since the 1980s For this study we banded birds with unique combinations of coloured leg bands (*N* = 97 birds banded), assessed birds' winter dominance status (details in Ratcliffe et al. 2007), mapped breeding-pair territories when flocks dissolved in early spring (details in Mennill et al. 2004), and examined birds' territorial singing behaviour, following previously established protocols.

#### Dominance

While birds were in winter flocks, we observed pair-wise social interactions at 14 feeders, dispersed throughout the study site, and tallied these interactions to determine each bird's relative dominance status (following Smith 1991; Mennill et al. 2004; Ratcliffe et al. 2007). All observations took place between January and early April, between 0700 and 1700 hours. During pair-wise interactions, we scored a bird as "dominant" when it supplanted or chased another chickadee, resisted a supplanting by

another chickadee, elicited a submissive posture from another chickadee, or fed while another chickadee waited (Smith 1991; Ratcliffe et al. 2007). Dominance data were gathered by a live observer following established protocols (see Mennill et al. 2004) and supplemented these observations with video recordings using small video cameras mounted on tripods placed 2m from feeders (Flip MinoHD, 2 Kodak Play Sport Zx3's, and a Sony HDR-XR101 HandyCam; all videos recorded at 1080 pixel resolution). Videos were reviewed by the same observer that collected dominance observations in the field.

All pair-wise dominance interactions observed were used to calculate a numeric rank score following Mennill et al. (2004). There were 13 males for which we had  $\geq$ 10 dominance interactions and a successful playback trial. For each of these 13 males, we calculated a rank score as the number of wins (number of times the subject was scored dominant in an interaction), divided by the total number of dominance interactions involving the subject. This generated male rank values between 0 and 1, where males with a low rank score (near 0) were more subordinate, and males with a high rank score (near 1) were more dominant. Previous research confirms that this numeric rank score provides a continuous metric that is strong related to the nominal rank classes that have been used in previous chickadee studies (Mennill et al. 2004).

## Playback with a taxidermic mount

In mid-April, after flocks had split up and males had begun defending breeding territories, we simulated territory intrusions using looped song playback and a taxidermic mount of a male black-capped chickadee. Some trials (N = 18) involved playback to banded males, including the 13 males whose dominance status was known.

We conducted additional trials (N = 20) on unbanded males outside of our core study area. To ensure we sampled a unique individual for each trial involving an unbanded male, we used a minimum distance of 400m between each playback site (territories in this study population are, on average, 135m across; Mennill et al. 2004).

Playback stimuli were created from focal recordings collected in 1999 from 10 males from the study population. The stimulus males have not been observed in our population for at least 10 years; given the average chickadee lifespan of 2.5 years (Smith 1991), none of the stimulus male songs should have been familiar to the subjects. We standardised the ten song stimuli to reduce variation between stimuli and remove differences in song characters that may be related to dominance. Using Audition software (Adobe Systems, San Jose, California), we separated the *fee* and *bee* notes from each of the ten stimulus males and then recombined them to make 100 different stimulus songs. The fees were normalized to -6dBFS (decibels relative to full scale) and bees to -8dBFS, a typical amplitude relationship for this species. The fee and bee were adjusted by inserting small intervals of silence and by using the "stretch" function to achieve population-typical inter-note durations (0.124 seconds) and frequency intervals (fee beginning at 3814 Hz, fee ending at 3609 Hz, bee beginning at 3183 Hz, and bee ending at 3295 Hz) following the population-typical values presented in Weismann et al. (1990) and Christie et al. (2004), so that all playback stimuli had the same frequency and temporal characteristics. We selected a different stimulus song for each trial, and repeated the same two-note song stimulus at a rate of 14 songs per minute, which is comparable to the song rates observed in this population (Otter et al. 1997). At the start

of each trial, playback amplitude was adjusted to 80dB using a 3183 Hz test tone broadcast for up to 30 seconds, calibrated to match the peak amplitude of the *bee* portion of the song stimuli. Amplitude was measured at 1m from the speaker using an analogue sound level meter (RadioShack 33-4050; C-weighting, fast response). This amplitude approximates the natural amplitude of male song, evaluated by ear by two observers during pilot trials.

Five taxidermic mounts were created from specimens found in Ontario that were collected after window-kills or natural death. Only adult males were used because of subtle sex-based variation in plumage features (Mennill et al. 2003b); sex was confirmed by the presence of testes during specimen preparation. Since the specimens were collected opportunistically, the dominance status each specimen was unknown. All models were positioned in the same realistic posture, perched on a birch branch that we attached to the speaker apparatus.

Following the protocol developed by Searcy et al. (2006), we played back songs at a fixed rate in conjunction with presentation of a conspecific taxidermic mount. This protocol allowed us to evaluate subjects' signalling behaviour as they approached the taxidermic mount, and to determine which signals predicted attack. The singing behaviour and territorial countersinging interactions of chickadees are different from the song sparrows studied by Searcy et al. (2006), so we modified the protocol slightly. Searcy et al. (2006) used a period of lure song, followed by a period of silence, followed by another period of playback song when the model was exposed. Our experience working with chickadees, combined with pilot trials, taught us that chickadees react to

playback by singing, rapidly approaching the speaker, and sometimes landing directly on the speaker or playback apparatus. However, when playback is paused, chickadees quickly stop interacting with the loudspeaker and depart the playback area. Therefore, we exposed the taxidermic mount at the start of the trial so that subjects would not make contact with the loudspeaker before the mount was exposed. We also eliminated the silent period so that birds would not exit the playback area. Song sparrows live in open environments, so Searcy et al.'s (2006) taxidermic model had to be hidden at the start of playback. Chickadees live in visually-occluded forested areas, so we ensured that subjects were out of visual range before placing the mount and commencing playback. In only one trial, the subject arrived after the mount was placed and before the playback was started, so we cancelled this trial and repeated it on another day.

The loudspeaker and taxidermic mount were set on a tripod at the approximate centre of each subject's territory. Each of the 100 *fee-bee* song stimuli was randomly paired with one of the five mounts, and then the stimulus/mount combinations were selected just prior to the start of each trial following a randomized list with no repetition. If a trial had to be repeated because we failed to attract a male to the site, a new stimulus/mount combination was used for the next trial. After scanning the area around the playback setup and confirming that no chickadees were present, we started playback with the mount revealed. Playback of looped song continued for up to 20 min or until the subject attacked the mount, whichever came first. We considered attack to be any contact the subject made with the taxidermic mount. All attacks had a rapid onset, but contact was usually very clear, with subjects typically landing on the mount's

head or shoulders and pecking vigorously at its head and/or eyes. We placed a video camera 2m from the mount and used recordings to confirm the initial time of attack that was dictated in the field; field data and video data matched in all cases.

During playback, two observers sat 8.5m from the mount and speaker. Using a directional microphone (Audio-technica AT8015; 40-20 000Hz frequency response) and a solid-state digital recorder (Marantz PMD-660; WAVE format, 44.1 kHz sampling rate, 16-bit encoding), one observer recorded the subject's vocalizations and quietly dictated the subject's physical behaviours, including their distance to the mount at each perching site, each time they passed over the loudspeaker, and whether or not they attacked the mount. The other observer helped locate the subject, ensure timing of attack was correctly assessed, and swiftly remove the mount after attack to reduce any undue stress on the subject. Flags placed at 1m, 2m, 5m, and 10m on either side of the mount, and 5m behind the mount, aided the observers in judging a bird's distance to the mount.

# Analysing playback recordings

We quantified the behaviours, detailed below, in all subjects' trials and compared birds that attacked the taxidermic mount (hereafter "attackers") to birds that did not attack the taxidermic mount (hereafter "non-attackers") during three time periods. First, we explored behaviours in the minute before birds attacked the mount, and a parallel minute in non-attackers. To select a parallel minute in each non-attacker, we selected the same minute relative to the subject's first song as we did for a randomly-selected attacker. This selection procedure is similar to that used in Searcy et al.'s (2006) and subsequent experiments using their protocol. Second, we examined the

entire trial preceding this minute-before-attack for both attackers and non-attackers. In one case, this method gave us a parallel minute that was beyond the length of the nonattacker's trial; for this non-attacker the paired minute then became the minute before the end of playback. Finally, we quantified all behaviours that occurred throughout a subject's full trial, from the first song to the end of the minute before attack in attackers, or parallel minute in non-attackers.

To examine each subject's behaviour during playback, we viewed spectrograms of the recordings collected during the trials using Syrinx-PC sound analysis software (J. Burt, Seattle, WA; 1024 point FFT, Blackman window type, resulting in 43Hz frequency resolution and 15ms time resolution). For each trial we tallied the following variables separately during the minute before attack, the period preceding that minute, and throughout the whole trial: (1) number of *fee-bee* songs; (2) number of *gargle* calls; (3) number of times the subject's song overlapped the playback in time; (4) the number of frequency shifts (>80Hz difference, after Horn et al. 1992) from subject's previous song; (5) the number of times the subject's song frequency matched the playback ( $\leq$ 50Hz, after behaviours observed in Otter et al. 2002); and (6) number of passes over the mount. Number of songs, gargles, and passes over the mount (variables 1, 2, and 6) were standardized by dividing them by the duration of the analysis period. Overlapping and frequency matching, variables 3 and 5, were standardized by dividing them by the number of opportunities the subject had in the analysis period to overlap or frequency match the playback. There was opportunity for the subject to overlap or match with each song that they emit, meaning that these variables were divided by the number of

songs presented. There was opportunity for the subject to frequency shift for each song emitted, excluding the first, so this variable was divided by number of songs minus one. Previous studies using the experimental design of Searcy et al. (2006) have included quiet song as a response variable. We did not include quiet song as a variable because it was never heard during playback trials. This species is capable of emitting quiet song (known as the faint *fee-bee*, Ficken et al. 1978), but it is produced when breeding pairs are communicating at the nest cavity, not during aggressive encounters (Smith 1991).

## Statistical analyses

We used multiple logistic regression with forward stepwise selection of variables (with the *P*-to-enter set at P = 0.05, and *P*-to-remove set at P=0.10) to determine which of the 6 behavioural variables predicted attack (after Ballentine et al. 2008 and Hof and Hazlett 2010). One regression was performed for the minute before attack and another for the time period preceding this minute. Because we had rank data for only a subset of males (N = 13), we conducted a separate logistic regression analysis to test if rank predicted attack in those males.

To describe the sequence of events that preceded attack, including a minute-byminute comparison of all of our response variables, we plotted the subjects' behaviour for 10 minutes prior to attack (this included all minutes where >5 males sang). These analyses are descriptive only; no additional statistical analyses were performed. We examined the effect of rank on the six putative aggressive behavioural variables by performing six univariate Spearman's rank correlations, then used a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (P = 0.0085 for 6 tests). These tests were performed

on behaviours that occurred during the full trial to include as many data as possible. Given that rank and propensity to attack the mount were not statistically associated (see results) we considered it appropriate to examine the entirety of the playback trials in conjunction with dominance rank.

All statistical analyses were two-tailed and conducted in PASW v18 (IBM inc., Armonk, NY). All values are presented with mean ± SE.

## RESULTS

We attracted territorial male black-capped chickadees to within visual range of the observer in 38 trials. Of the 38 responding males, 21 males attacked the taxidermic model within 20 minutes of the start of playback, whereas 17 males did not. Thirteen of the 38 males were colour-banded animals of known dominance status (i.e. we had gathered ≥10 dominance interactions during winter dominance observations).

# Up to one minute before attack

In the time preceding the minute before attack (attacks occurred on average 7.09 ± 1.05 min from the start of playback; range: 1.53 to 17.5 min), a high song rate predicted whether chickadees later attacked the taxidermic mount (Fig. 1). The number of songs per minute was the only variable of the six that we measured to enter into the stepwise logistic regression model, and it significantly predicted whether the subject attacked (logistic regression:  $\chi^2_1$  = 5.0, *P* = 0.025). In a jackknifed procedure, songs per minute correctly classified 81% of attackers and 58.8% of non-attackers (71% of all cases correctly classified).

# One minute before attack

In the minute before birds attacked the taxidermic mount, the number of gargle calls predicted whether or not black-capped chickadees attacked (logistic regression:  $\chi^{2}_{1}$  = 52.3, *P* < 0.0001; Fig. 2). Indeed, gargle calls were a perfect predictor of attack; all males that produced a gargle call subsequently attacked the simulated intruder, whereas non-attackers never produced gargle calls.

## Sequence of behaviours in attacker's full trials

A descriptive analysis of the sequence of behaviours that preceded attack reveal several interesting patterns (Fig. 3; data shown for *N* = 21 attackers). The singing behaviour of black-capped chickadees – including song rate, overlapping, frequency shifts, frequency matching and passes – showed different patterns during the trials. The number of *gargle* calls (Fig. 3b) and passes over the taxidermic mount (Fig. 3f) showed a peak only in the final minutes before attack. Song rate (Fig. 3a) and overlaps (Fig. 3c) increased slowly in the minutes preceding attack. Number of frequency shifts and frequency matches were higher seven to nine minutes before attack (Fig 3d, e).

## Dominance rank and playback response

The propensity for males to attack the taxidermic mount was not predicted by rank (Fig. 4; logistic regression:  $\chi^2_1 = 0.12$ , P = 0.73, N = 13 males whose dominance status was known). We compared the subjects' behaviour throughout the playback trials to their dominance rank score. Males with higher dominance status overlapped the playback more often (Fig. 5; Spearman's rank correlation: r s = 0.64, N = 13, P = 0.018)

and they frequency matched the playback songs more often (Fig. 5; r s = 0.68, N = 13, P = 0.011). Neither of these trends, however, remained significant following correction for multiple comparisons (i.e.  $\alpha = 0.0085$ ). The remaining four behaviours showed no relationship with dominance rank (all r s > 0.23, N = 13, all P > 0.45).

#### DISCUSSION

Male black-capped chickadees showed strong territorial responses to loop playback paired with a taxidermic mount. Males sang and approached the playback area and, in 55% of the examined trials, they physically attacked the taxidermic mount. The *gargle* call, a non-song vocalization, was a perfect predictor of attack; all birds that attacked the taxidermic mount produced *gargle* calls in the minute before attack, and non-attackers did not produce *gargle* calls. Song rate in the time period preceding the minute-before-attack was also a significant predictor of attack; song rate was higher for attackers than non-attackers. Interestingly, neither *gargle* calls nor song rate were associated with dominance rank. Only two measured behaviours, overlapping and frequency matching, showed a relationship with dominance rank, yet neither relationship was significant following correction for multiple comparisons. Based on the results of this experiment, *gargle* calls and song rate fulfil the predictive criterion of being an aggressive signal (sensu Searcy and Beecher 2009).

Overlapping, frequency matching, high song rate, and *gargle* calls have all been documented in aggressive contexts in black-capped chickadees (Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b; Ficken et al. 1978), and therefore fulfil the context criterion for being aggressive signals (Searcy and Beecher 2009). Overlapping and

frequency matching are noted for occurring during diurnal song contests between neighbouring male chickadees (Fitzsimmons et al. 2008), but did not predict attack in this study. In several bird species, males increase their song rate in response to agonistic playback (e.g. superb fairywrens, *Malurus cyaneus*, Cooney and Cockburn 1995; blackcapped chickadees, Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b; stripe-headed sparrows, Peucaea ruficauda, Illes and Yunes-Jimenez 2009; indigo buntings, Passerina cyanea, Beckett and Ritchison 2010; vermillion flycatchers, Pyrocephalus rubinus, Rivera-Cáceres et al. 2011). The *gargle* call is important in close-range interactions during dominance hierarchy establishment and often occurs immediately prior to aggressive supplants in winter flocks (Ficken et al. 1978; Ficken et al. 1987; Baker et al. 1991). Gargle calls have also been noted for occurring when breeding males interact at their territory boundaries (Ficken et al. 1987; Baker and Gammon 2007). Our playback study shows that song rate and *gargle* calls are significantly higher during aggressive interactions preceding attack, adding to the evidence suggesting that these two behaviours are associated with escalated aggressive interactions.

These two behaviours, therefore, fit Searcy and Beecher's (2009) predictive criterion for aggressive signals, with both high song rate and *gargle* calls predicting subsequent attack. In our study, as in other studies that have followed a modelpresentation design, only a subset of the behaviours we analyzed predicted attack (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). Searcy et al. (2006) and Ballentine et al. (2008) found that soft songs and wing waving behaviour predicted attack in song sparrows and swamp sparrows, whereas song matching and song type switching did not. Song matching and type switching are analogues of the frequency matching and frequency switching measures we report here, and therefore our results agree with theirs. Ballentine et al. (2008) and Hof and Hazlett (2010) also tested non-song vocalizations (*wheezes* and *rasps* for swamp sparrows; *ctuks* and *sputters* for black-throated blue warblers) but found that soft songs were the only vocalization that predicted attack. Therefore, black-capped chickadees are the first passerine species examined with Searcy et al.'s (2006) experimental approach where a non-song vocalization is a signal of aggression, rather than a quiet version of male song. Moreover, black-capped chickadees stand apart from these previously-studied songbirds because song rate predicted attack in our analyses while it did not all other birds examined. Where the four prior studies agreed that similar behaviours (low-amplitude vocalizations) fulfilled the predictive criterion for aggressive signals, our results suggest that other behaviours can also satisfy this criterion.

Interestingly, the two behaviours that predicted attack in chickadees did not occur in the same time period. Our evaluation of changes in behaviour over time reveals that song rate is high throughout the playback-induced interactions, while *gargle* calls occur only in the minute before attack on the taxidermic mount (Fig. 3). We also know from our analyses that song rate only predicts attack in the time period preceding the minute-before-attack, not during the minute-before-attack, and that *gargle* calling only predicts attack in the minute-before-attack, not during the preceding time period. This ordered sequence of behaviours may indicate that chickadees have a graded signalling system, where heightened song rate is an initial signal of aggression, and production of

*gargle* calls is an escalated signal of aggression. A graded signalling system has been shown in song sparrows, involving three different types of signal matching (reviewed in Beecher and Campbell 2005). Receiver-perspective and observational studies of chickadees had previously suggested that chickadees use a graded signalling system (Otter et al. 2002; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a), but these studies suggested that the graded signals were overlapping and then frequency matching. Our analysis of these signals in the framework of the predictive criterion (Searcy and Beecher 2009) do not support the idea that overlapping and matching aggressive signals, although these behaviours may have other functions in agonistic signalling interactions.

Black-capped chickadees provide an interesting study system, in part because signalling behaviour can be related to male dominance status, a trait known to be a sexually-selected target of female choice (Ramsay et al. 2000; Ratcliffe et al. 2007). We were surprised to find that rank was unrelated to a male's propensity to attack the taxidermic mount and his signalling behaviours, particularly since previous studies revealed relationships between male dominance rank and male territorial singing behaviour (e.g. Ficken et al. 1987; Otter et al. 1997; Mennill et al. 2002, 2003; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b; Christie et al. 2004). However, we found non-significant positive trends suggesting that overlapping and frequency matching may be related to the dominance status of the singing male. These behaviours might signal dominance status, with more dominant males overlapping and matching more playback songs than lowranking males. Additionally, prior research suggests that frequency matching in blackcapped chickadees, like song matching in other species, is a way of directing

communication towards a specific rival within a network of possible receivers, thereby eliciting a territorial response from a targeted opponent (Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994; Otter et al. 2002; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b). Therefore, overlapping and frequency matching occur in escalated contexts but may have other non-aggressive signalling functions, such as signalling dominance status or directing competition towards a specific rival. Since the sample size was low for this part of our analyses (*N* = 13 males with known dominance status) more research is necessary to examine this possible trend.

*Gargle* calling and song rate fit both the context and predictive criteria for being aggressive signals in chickadees; however, receiver-based studies have only been performed on *gargle* calls. Baker et al. (1991) used playback to examine *gargle* calling in the non-breeding season (i.e. a feeding context rather than a breeding context). They found that responses to *gargle* calls appeared dependent upon physical proximity of the opponent and familiarity with the *gargle* call that was played back. The infrequently-heard, unfamiliar *gargle* calls of subordinates made dominant males averse to feeding and the proximity of a dominant male coupled with his familiar call made subordinates more averse to feeding (Baker et al. 1991). These reactions constitute a receiver response and therefore *gargle* calls satisfy Searcy and Beecher's (2009) three criterion, confirming that they are an aggressive signal. Song rate has not been examined using receiver-based studies, though it is often seen to increase in response to playback in agonistic situations (Mennill et al. 2004). Also, receivers show a greater response to a simulated *chick-a-dee* call playback when a greater proportion of the simulation is

vocalization versus silence, i.e. simulated signallers have higher duty cycle calls (Wilson and Mennill 2011). Further studies on song rate must be performed to confirm that it fits the response criterion of an aggressive signal.

*Gargle* calling fits Searcy and Beecher's (2009) three criteria of aggressive signals and is a perfect predictor of attack; therefore it can be called an aggressive signal in black-capped chickadees. Here we also demonstrated that song rate fits the context and predictive criterion of an aggressive signal and it is elevated prior to the minute before attack. Future research should focus on examining song rate from the receiver's perspective to examine the response criterion, and should explore the role of *gargle* calls during the breeding season. These signals may function as a graded signalling system, and this idea merits further investigation. Future studies should explore the association between these two behaviours in naturally-occurring countersinging interactions. Other signals examined, including the number of song overlaps and frequency matching may function to communicate status or to direct signals towards a particular opponent during agonistic black-capped chickadee song contests. By exploring chickadee signal functions through further research, we can expand the understanding of signals that occur in aggressive signalling interactions.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank M. Battiston and S. Kamtaeja for field assistance. We thank V. Rohwer for skilfully crafting the taxidermic mounts. We thank the Curtis, Lundell, Warren, Weatherhead-Metz, and Zink families for access to their properties, and the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority for maintenance of the public trails where some of our trials took place. We thank Queen's University Biological Station for logistic support. We thank L. Ratcliffe for ongoing collaborative research on this study population. We thank the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), the Canada Foundation for Innovation, the Government of Ontario, and the University of Windsor for financial support.

# REFERENCES

Alexander, R. D. 1961. Aggressiveness, territoriality and sexual behaviour in field crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). Behaviour, 17, 130-223.

Anderson, R. C., Nowicki, S. & Searcy, W. A. 2007. Soft song in song sparrows: response of males and females to an enigmatic signal. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 61, 1267-1274.

Arak, A. 1983. Sexual selection by male-male competition in natterjack toad choruses. Nature, 306, 261-262.

Baker, M. C. & Gammon, D. E. 2007. The gargle call of black-capped chickadees: Ontogeny, acoustic structure, population patterns, function and processes leading to sharing of call characteristics. In Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 167-182. New York: Oxford University Press.

Baker, M. C., Boylan, J. T. & Goulart, C. A. 1991. Effects of gargle vocalizations on the behaviour of black-capped chickadees. Condor, 93, 62-70.

Ballentine, B., Searcy, W. A. & Nowicki, S. 2008. Reliable aggressive signalling in swamp sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 75, 693-703.

Beckett, M. D. & Ritchison, G. 2010. Effects of breeding stage and behavioural context on singing behavior of male indigo buntings. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology, 122, 655-665.

Beecher, M. & Campbell, S. 2005. The role of unshared songs in singing interactions between neighbouring song sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 70, 1297-1304.

Catchpole, C. K. & Slater, P. J. B. 2008. Bird song: Biological themes and variations. 2nd edn. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Christie, P. J., Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004. Pitch shifts and song structure indicate male quality in the dawn chorus of black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 55, 341-348.

Cooney, R. & Cockburn, A. 1995. Territorial defense is the major function of female song in superb fairy-wren, Malurus cyanus. Animal Behaviour, 49, 1635-1647.

Dabelsteen, T. & Pedersen, S. B. 1990. Song and information about aggressive responses of blackbirds, Turdus merula: evidence from interactive playback experiments with territory owners. Animal Behaviour, 40, 1158–1168.

Enquist, M. 1985. Communication during aggressive interactions with particular reference to variation in choice of behaviour. Animal Behaviour, 33, 1152–1161.

Ficken, M. S., Ficken, R. W. & Witkin, S. R. 1978. Vocal repertoire of the black-capped chickadee. The Auk, 95, 34-48.

Ficken, M. S., Weise, C. M. & Reinartz, J. A. 1987. A complex vocalization of the blackcapped chickadee. II. Repertoires, dominance and dialects. Condor, 89, 500-509.

Fitzsimmons L. P., Foote J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Mennill, D. J. 2008a. Frequency matching, overlapping, and movement behaviour in diurnal countersinging interactions of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behaviour, 75, 1913-1920.

Fitzsimmons, L. P., Foote, J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Mennill, D. J. 2008b. Eavesdropping and communication networks revealed through playback and an acoustic location system. Behavioral Ecology, 19, 824-829.

Gil, D. & Gahr, M. 2002. The honesty of bird song: multiple constrains for multiple traits. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 17, 133-140.

Goransson, G., Hogstedt, G., Karlsson, J., Kallander, H. & Ulfstrand, S. 1974. Sångensroll för revirhållandet hos näktergal Luscinia luscinia—Några experiment med playback-teknik. Var Fagelvarld, 33, 201-209.

Hall, M. L., Illes, A. & Vehrencamp, S. L. 2006. Overlapping signals in banded wrens: long-term effects of prior experience on males and females. Behavioral Ecology, 17, 260–269.

Hof, D. & Hazlett, N. 2010. Low-amplitude song predicts attack in a North American wood warbler. Animal Behaviour, 80, 821-828.

Horn, A. G., Leonard, M. L., Ratcliffe, L., Shackleton, S. A. & Weisman, R. G. 1992. Frequency variation in songs of black-capped chickadees (Parus atricapillus). The Auk, 109, 847-852.

Illes, A. E. & Yunes-Jimenez, L. 2009. A female songbird out-sings male conspecifics during simulated territorial intrusions. Proceedings of Royal Society: Biological, 276, 981-986.

Krebs, J. R. 1977. Song and territory in the great tit. In: Evolutionary Ecology, (ed. B. Stonehouse & C. Perrins), pp. 47-62. New York: Macmillan.

Krebs, J., Ashcroft, R. & Webber, M. 1978. Song repertoires and territory defence in the great tit. Nature, 271, 539–542.

Krebs, J. R., Ashcroft, R. & Van Orsdol, K. 1981. Song matching in the great tit Parus major L. Animal Behaviour, 29, 918–923.

Marler, P. & Slabbekoorn, H. 2004. Nature's Music: The Science of Birdsong. San Diego: Elsevier.

Marshall J.T., Jr., & Marshall E. R. 1976. Gibbons and their territorial songs. Science, 193, 235-237.

Martins, M. & Haddad, C. F. B. 1988. Vocalizations and reproductive behaviour in the smith frog, Hylafaber Wied (Amphibia : Hylidae). Amphibia-Reptilia, 9, 49-60.

Maynard Smith, J. & Price, G.R. 1973. The Logic of Animal Conflict. Nature, 246, 15-18.

Mennill, D. J. & Otter, K. A. 2007. Status signalling and communication networks in chickadees: Complex communication with simple song. In Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 215-234. New York: Oxford University Press.

Mennill D. J. & Ratcliffe L. M. 2000. A field test of Syrinx sound analysis software in interactive playback. Bioacoustics, 11, 77-86.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004a. Do male black-capped chickadees eavesdrop on song contests? A multi-speaker playback experiment. Behaviour, 141, 125-139.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004b. Overlapping and matching in the song contests of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behavior, 67, 441-450.

Mennill, D. J., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Boag, P. T. 2002. Female eavesdropping on male song contests in songbirds. Science, 296, 873.

Mennill, D. J., Boag, P. T. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2003a. The reproductive choices of eavesdropping female black-capped chickadees, Poecile atricapillus. Die Naturwissenschaften, 90, 577-582.

Mennill, D. J., Doucet, S. M., Montgomerie, R. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2003b. Achromatic color variation in black-capped chickadees, Poecile atricapilla: Black and white signals of sex and rank. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 53:350-357.

Mennill, D. J., Ramsay, S. M., Boag P. T. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004. Patterns of extrapair mating in relation to male dominance status and female nest placement in black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology, 15, 757-765.

Otter, K., Chruszcz, B. & Ratcliffe, L. 1997. Honest advertisement and song output during the dawn chorus of black-capped chickadees. Behavioral Ecology, 8, 167-173.

Otter, K. A., Ratcliffe, L., Njegovan, M. & Fotheringham, J. 2002. Importance of frequency and temporal song matching in black-capped chickadees: Evidence from interactive playback. Ethology, 108, 181-191.

Perrill, S. A., Gerhardt, H. C. & Daniel, R. E. 1982. Mating strategy shifts in male green treefrogs (Hyla cinerea): An experimental study. Animal Behaviour, 30, 43-48.

Rivera-Cáceres, K., Masías Garcia, C., Quirós-Guerrero, E. & Ríos-Chenlén, A. A. 2011. An interactive playback experiment shows song bout size discrimination in the suboscine vermillion flycatcher (Pyrocephalus rubinus). Ethology, 117, 1120-1127.

Ramsay, S. M., Otter, K. A., Mennill, D. J., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Boag, P. T. 2000. Divorce and extrapair mating in female black-capped chickadees (Parus atricapillus): separate strategies with a common target. Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology, 49, 18-23.

Ratcliffe, L., Mennill, D. J. & Shubert, K. A. 2007. Social dominance and fitness in blackcapped chickadees. In: The Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 131-146. Toronto: Oxford University Press.

Rek, P. & Osiejuk, T. S. 2011. Nonpasserine bird produces soft calls and pays retaliation cost. Behavioral Ecology, 22, 657-662.

Searcy, W. A. & Beecher, M. D. 2009. Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. Animal Behaviour, 78, 1281-1292.

Searcy, W. A., Anderson, R. C. & Nowicki, S. 2006. Bird song as a signal of aggressive intent. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 60, 234-241.

Shackleton, S. A. & Ratcliffe, L. 1994. Matched counter-singing signals escalation of aggression in black-capped chickadees (Parus atricapillus). Ethology, 97, 310–316.

Smith S. M. 1991. The Black-capped Chickadee: Behavioral ecology and natural history. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.

Stoddard, P. K., Beecher, M. D., Campbell, S. E. & Horning, C. L. 1992. Song-type matching in the song sparrow. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 70, 1440–1444.

Todt, D. 1981. On functions of vocal matching: effects of counter-replies on song post choice and singing. Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie, 57, 73–93.

Todt, D. & Naguib, M. 2000. Vocal interactions in birds: the use of song as a model in communication. Advances in the Study of Behaviour, 29, 247-295.

Vehrencamp, S. L. 2001. Is song-type matching a conventional signal of aggressive intentions? Proceedings: Biological Sciences, 1476, 1637-1642.

Vehrencamp, S. L., Hall, M. L., Bohman, E. R., Depeine, C. D. & Dalziell, A. H. 2007. Song matching, overlapping and switching in the banded wren: the sender's perspective. Behavioral Ecology, 18, 849-859.

Weismann, R., Ratcliffe, L., Johnsrude, T. & Hurly, T. A. 1990. Absolute and relative pitch production in the song of the black-capped chickadee. Condor, 92, 118-124.

Wells, K. D. & Schwartz, J. J. 1984. Vocal communication in a Neotropical treefrog, Hyla ebraccata: Aggressive calls. Behaviour, 91, 128-145.

Wilson, D. R. & Mennill, D. J. 2011. Duty cycle, not signal structure, explains conspecific and heterospecific responses to the calls of black-capped chickadees (Poecile atricapillus). Behavioral Ecology, 22, 784-790.

Yasukawa, K. 1981. Song and territory defense in the red-winged blackbird. The Auk, 98, 185-187.

FIGURES



**Figure 2.1.** Behavioural responses of black-capped chickadees to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, comparing males that attacked the mount (N = 21) to males that did not attack (N = 17). Data are shown for the first portion of the playback trial, up to one minute before attack and a parallel minute for non-attackers. Means ± SE are shown for (a) number of songs per minute, (b) number of *gargle* calls per minute, (c) number of overlapping songs per opportunity to overlap, (d) number of frequency shifts ( $\geq$ 80Hz) per opportunity to shift, (e) number of frequency matches ( $\leq$ 50Hz) per opportunity to match, (f) number of passes over the taxidermic mount per minute. Only the number of songs per minute significantly predicted attack in this time period (see text).



**Figure 2.2**. Behavioural responses of black-capped chickadees to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, comparing males that attacked the mount (N = 21) to males that did not attack (N = 17). Data are shown for the minute before attack, or a parallel minute in non-attackers. Means ± SE are shown for (a) number of songs per minute, (b) number of *gargle* calls per minute, (c) number of overlapping songs per opportunity to overlap, (d) number of frequency shifts ( $\geq$ 80Hz) per opportunity to shift, (e) number of frequency matches ( $\leq$ 50Hz) per opportunity to match, (f) number of passes over the taxidermic mount per minute. Only *gargle* calls significantly predicted attack in this time period (see text).



**Figure 2.3**. Six behaviours of black-capped chickadees in response to playback coupled with a taxidermic mount, shown as a time-course for the minutes preceding attack on a taxidermic mount (N = 21; values are means  $\pm$  SE). From top to bottom: (a) number of songs per minute, (b) number of *gargle* calls per minute, (c) number of overlapping songs per opportunity to overlap, (d) number of frequency shifts ( $\geq$ 80Hz) per opportunity to shift, (e) number of frequency matches ( $\leq$ 50Hz) per opportunity to match, (f) number of passes over the taxidermic mount per minute. This is a descriptive depiction of the sequence of behaviours preceding attack.



**Figure 2.4**. The dominance rank of male black-capped chickadees did not differ between males that attacked a taxidermic mount coupled with playback versus males that did not attack (N = 13, see text).



**Figure 2.5**. Relationships between the dominance rank of male black-capped chickadees and their behaviour during the full playback trial. Comparisons are shown for (a) number of songs per minute, (b) number of *gargle* calls per minute, (c) number of overlapping songs per opportunity to overlap, (d) number of frequency shifts ( $\geq$ 80Hz) per opportunity to shift, (e) number of frequency matches ( $\leq$ 50Hz) per opportunity to match, (f) number of passes over the taxidermic mount per minute. Only number of overlaps and matches showed a relationship with dominance rank, but this trend was not significant following correction for multiple comparisons (see text).

**CHAPTER 3** 

THESIS SUMMARY
#### Aggressive signalling

My thesis revealed that *gargle* calling and song rate predicted attack during black-capped chickadee song contests. Previous studies on four other species used the same experimental protocol, originally developed by Searcy et al. (2006). These four studies all found that quiet song predicted attack (song sparrow, Melospiza melodia: Searcy et al. 2006; swamp sparrow, Melospiza georgiana: Ballentine et al. 2008; blackthroated blue warbler, Setophaga caerulescens: Hof and Hazlett 2010; corncrake, Crex crex: Rek and Osiejuk 2011), suggesting that the aggressive properties of quiet song may be a universal trend. My thesis shows that this is not true. In contrast to the pattern common across the previously studied species, chickadees use two different signals, gargle calling and song rate, to indicate intent to attack a rival conspecific male. Previous studies have suggested that that several other behaviours were aggressive signals in chickadees, including frequency matching, frequency shifting, and overlapping (Ficken et al. 1978; Shackleton and Ratcliffe 1994; Otter et al. 2002; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004a,b; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a,b). Some of these signals fit the context or response criteria of aggressive signals but none of them predicted attack on the mount in this signallerperspective study. Therefore frequency matching, frequency shifting, and overlapping cannot be considered "aggressive signals" under Searcy and Beecher's (2009) definition.

Quiet song may be an effective aggressive signal since it only transmits short distances, thereby minimizing the chances that third-party receivers will overhear the aggressive signal and retaliate against the signaller (Vehrencamp 2000; Enquist 1985). By restricting the transmission distance of highly aggressive signals, birds can actively

control which receivers will detect their most aggressive interactions. The amplitude of *gargle* calls and *fee-bee* songs, and their transmission characteristics have not been well studied. Bird vocalizations with narrow frequency ranges, like the *fee-bee* song, propagate more readily in forested habitats than broadband vocalizations, like the *gargle* call (Morton 1975). This could mean that chickadee song transmits farther than *gargles*, and their relative sound transmission properties might make them similar to broadcast and quiet song in other species. However, anecdotal observations suggest that the *gargle* call is not as quiet as the soft songs of sparrows; the soft song of song sparrows transmits only a few meters, while *gargles* can be heard at much greater distances, as far as 30m or more (personal observation).

Future sound transmission studies could be performed to examine transmission properties of *gargle* calls. If transmission properties are tested and show a pattern where the difference between chickadee loud song and *gargle* calls is similar to the difference between loud song and soft songs of other species, this might suggest that similar selective forces have acted to produce these different signalling strategies across species. In addition to sound transmission studies, playback studies in conjunction with acoustic location systems might be used to examine loud song and aggressive signals in the five species previously studied. These studies could play back both loud song and quiet songs or gargle calls and examine the response of neighbouring birds. If we expect that these signals are under the same selective pressures driven by receiver retaliation, then we would expect to see similar difference in receiver response to loud song and aggressive signals across species.

#### Graded Signalling

Song rate and *gargle* calls may comprise a graded signalling system. My analysis of the sequence of behaviours showed that song rate increases early in the aggressive interaction while *gargle* calls occur later, mostly in the minute before attack. If this is a graded signalling system, song rate may be the first indication of arousal. After a period of increased song rate a male may chose to escalate the interaction by producing gargle calls, and subsequently attacking (Figure 3.1). This system is much simpler than the graded signalling system described for song sparrows (Beecher and Campbell 2005; Searcy and Beecher 2009). It is interesting that song rate, a continuous variable, and *gargle* calling, a discrete vocal behaviour, are coupled to create the graded signalling system. It is possible that chickadees increase the song rate throughout the interaction to show increasing aggressive motivation and show immediate aggressive intent with gargle calls. To test this, researchers could perform a playback experiment where the song rate is varied, or held constant at a high- or low-rate, and examine the receiver response to these signals. Researchers might also examine natural song contests to see if song rate increases more over the course of contests that include *gargle* calling versus those that do not.

The graded system suggested by my results, involving high song rate followed by *gargle* calling, is different from previous ideas presented by chickadee researchers (e.g. Otter et al. 2002; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008a). These studies examined signals under the context and response criteria and suggest a graded signalling system involving overlapping and frequency matching. However, these previously proposed signals did

not predict attack in my study. My study examined these signals under the predictive criterion and it is interesting that the different perspectives showed different results. I did, however, observe overlapping and frequency matching in my study. The prevalence of overlapping and frequency matching in this and other studies may indicate these signals have other important functions during signalling interactions, even though they do not predict attack.

Further research should examine whether song rate variation and *gargle* calls occur during natural interactions. This research might use microphone arrays to analyse how song rate changes throughout a signalling interaction, and whether increasing song rate and *gargle* calls occur sequentially in naturally-occurring territorial contests. Also, receiver-perspective playback studies could be performed to examine the effect of both increasing song rate and *gargle* calls on a receiver's reaction to a simulated intruder. This might include playback of high-rate song with and without *gargle* calls, or *gargle* calls alone, compared to a lower rate looped playback. This would allow us to understand how receivers react to the various aggressive signals by an intruder. If these two behaviours comprise a graded signalling system as I have suggested in this thesis, we might expect the strongest receiver reaction to playback with *gargle* calls, an intermediate response to playback with high song rate, and the weakest receiver reaction to low song rate playback.

#### Signalling Dominance Rank in Communication Networks

I examined the relationship between dominance and aggressive signalling strategies. Surprisingly, my results did not show that dominance is related with

probability to attack or the signals that predict attack. This result suggests that there is no difference in aggressive signalling strategies of high- or low-ranking males. My results show interesting positive trends between overlapping and frequency matching behaviours and male rank. However, these trends were not statistically significant following correction for multiple comparisons due to low sample size. Prior research has shown that overlapping and frequency matching are important signalling behaviours during black-capped chickadee territorial contests and receivers use these behaviours to inform their territorial and reproductive behaviour (Mennill et al. 2002; Otter et al. 2002; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2003, 2004a,b; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b; Foote et al. 2010). The presence of these signals during this study's simulated interactions, coupled with the previous research, suggests that these behaviours are important in territorial interactions.

Previous research had suggested that overlapping and frequency matching could be aggressive signals, however my study shows that they do not fulfill Searcy and Beecher's (2009) predictive criterion of aggressive signals. In previous research, the receivers' behavioural reaction to these signals has been shown to be related to male dominance rank (Mennill et al. 2002; Mennill and Ratcliffe 2003, 2004a,b). These results along with my own suggest that overlapping and frequency matching in territorial contests may be an indicator of male quality, for which dominance rank is a proxy (Ratcliffe et al. 2007). Overlapping and frequency matching would therefore occur in aggressive signalling interactions as a way of communicating the quality of the singer to the rival male and any eavesdroppers.

A lot of interesting research has examined communication networks (McGregor 2005). By studying signaller-receiver interactions we can see how a network signalling environment effects simpler interactions to make a complex signalling system. By examining both aggressive and non-aggressive signals in the signalling interactions of male black-capped chickadees we can understand how this type of directed interaction can have signals that are meant for both rivals and eavesdroppers. Aggressive and graded signals might be directed by the signaller towards his rival, while dominance rank signals might contain information important for both the rival and other eavesdropping males and females. In future research, a playback experiment could be performed where a simulated aggressive interaction, with high song rate and *gargle* calling, has either high or low amounts of song matching and overlapping. I would expect that an aggressive, high-ranking signaller might receive a very different receiver response from a passive, low-ranking male. This would allow researchers to investigate aggressive and dominance signals together to examine if they interact to affect receiver response.

#### Conclusions

My thesis revealed that song rate and *gargle* calling fulfill the predictive criterion of aggressive signals. Since *gargle* calling fulfills both the predictive criteria in this study, and the context criterion (Ficken et al. 1978, 1987; Baker et al. 1991; Baker and Gammon 2007) and response criterion (Ficken et al. 1978; Baker et al. 1991, 1996) in other studies, we can conclude it is an aggressive signal. Song rate fulfills the predictive criterion in this study and the context criterion in other studies (Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004b; Fitzsimmons et al. 2008b). Further research needs to be performed on song rate

to examine if it fulfills the response criterion of aggressive signals. Chickadees stand out relative to other species where quiet song is an aggressive signal (Searcy et al. 2006; Ballentine et al. 2008; Hof and Hazlett 2010; Rek and Osiejuk 2011). My results were different from previous chickadee research which drew attention to overlapping and matching as aggressive signals, and this underscores the fundamental difference between examining signals from the signaller versus receiver perspective. As suggested by Searcy and Beecher (2009), both signaller and receiver perspective, and natural observations are important for fully understanding territorial signalling in song birds. I have provided a signaller's perspective study of territorial interactions in black-capped chickadees, focussing on aggressive signals but also examining other signal functions such as graded signals and dominance signals.

#### REFERENCES

Anderson, R.C., Nowicki, S., & Searcy, W. A. 2007. Soft song in song sparrows: response of males and females to an enigmatic signal. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 61, 1267-1274.

Baker, M. C. & Gammon, D. E. 2007. The gargle call of black-capped chickadees: Ontogeny, acoustic structure, population patterns, function and processes leading to sharing of call characteristics. In Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 167-182. New York: Oxford University Press.

Baker, M. C., Boylan, J. T. & Goulart, C. A. 1991. Effects of gargle vocalizations on the behaviour of black-capped chickadees. The Condor, 93, 62-70.

Baker, M. C., Tracy, T. T. & Miyasato, L. E. 1996. Gargle vocalizations of black-capped chickadees: test of repertoire and video stimuli. Animal Behaviour, 52, 1171-1175.

Ballentine, B., Searcy, W. A. & Nowicki, S. 2008. Reliable aggressive signalling in swamp sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 75, 693-703.

Beecher, M., and Campbell, S. 2005. The role of unshared songs in singing interactions between neighbouring song sparrows. Animal Behaviour, 70, 1297-1304.

Enquist, M. 1985. Communication during aggressive interactions with particular reference to variation in choice of behaviour. Animal Behaviour, 33, 1152–1161.

Ficken, M. S., Ficken, R. W., and Witkin, S. R. 1978. Vocal Repertoire of the black-capped chickadee. The Auk, 95, 34-48.

Ficken, M. S., Weise, C. M. & Reinartz, J. A. 1987. A complex vocalization of the blackcapped chickadee. II. Repertoires, dominance and dialects. Condor, 89, 500-509.

Fitzsimmons L. P., Foote J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M., & Mennill, D. J. 2008a. Frequency matching, overlapping, and movement behaviour in diurnal countersinging interactions of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behaviour, 75, 1913-1920.

Fitzsimmons, L. P., Foote, J. R., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Mennill, D. J. 2008b. Eavesdropping and communication networks revealed through playback and an acoustic location system. Behavioral Ecology, 19, 824-829.

Foote, J. R., Fitzsimmons L. P., Mennill, D. J., & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2010. Black-capped chickadee dawn choruses are interactive communication networks. Behaviour, 147, 1219-1248.

Hof, D. & Hazlett, N. 2010. Low-amplitude song predicts attack in a North American wood warbler. Animal Behaviour, 80, 821-828.

McGregor, P. 2005. Animal Communication Netoworks. Cambridge: University Press.

Mennill, D. J., Boag, P. T. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2003. The reproductive choices of eavesdropping female black-capped chickadees, Poecile atricapillus. Die Naturwissenschaften, 90, 577-582.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004a. Do male black-capped chickadees eavesdrop on song contests? A multi-speaker playback experiment. Behaviour, 141, 125-139.

Mennill, D. J. & Ratcliffe, L. M. 2004b. Overlapping and matching in the song contests of black-capped chickadees. Animal Behavior, 67, 441-450.

Mennill, D. J., Ratcliffe, L. M. & Boag, P. T. 2002. Female eavesdropping on male song contests in songbirds. Science, 296, 873.

Morton, E. S. 1975. Ecological sources of selection on avian sounds. American Naturalist, 109, 17–34.

Otter, K. A., Ratcliffe, L., Njegovan, M., Fotheringham, J. 2002. Importance of frequency and temporal song matching in black-capped chickadees: Evidence from interactive playback. Ethology, 108, 181-191.

Searcy, W. A., Anderson, R. C., and Nowicki, S. 2006. Bird song as a signal of aggressive intent. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 60, 234-241.

Searcy, W. A. & Beecher, M. D. 2009. Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. Animal Behaviour, 78, 1281-1292.

Shackleton, S. A. & Ratcliffe, L. 1994. Matched counter-singing signals escalation of aggression in black-capped chickadees (Parus atricapillus). Ethology, 97, 310–316.

Vehrencamp, S. L. (2000). Handicap, index, and conventional signal elements of bird song. In: Espmark Y, Amundsen T, Rosenqvist, G (eds.). Animal signals: signalling and signal design in animal communication. Tapir Academic, Trondheim, Norway, pp 277-300.

Ratcliffe, L., Mennill, D. J., and Shubert, K. A. 2007. Social dominance and fitness in blackcapped chickadees. In: The Ecology and Behavior of Chickadees and Titmice: An integrated approach (Ed. by Ken A. Otter), pp. 131-146. Toronto: Oxford University Press. Rek, P. & Osiejuk, T. S. 2011. Nonpasserine bird produces soft calls and pays retaliation cost. Behavioral Ecology, 22, 657-662.

## FIGURES



**Figure 3.1:** Diagram showing the possible signalling decisions a focal bird and his rival could make during an aggressive signalling interaction, using the proposed graded signalling system from Chapter 2. Either bird can escalate the interaction by moving upwards through the diagram or deescalate by moving downward through the diagram. This figure is modelled after the graded signalling diagram Searcy and Beecher (2009, Figure 1).

# VITA AUCTORIS- TYNE MARIE BAKER

BIRTH YEAR & PLACE: 1987, Kenora, Ontario, Canada

EDUCATION:

2010-2012	Master of Science, Biological Sciences
	University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada
2005-2010	Honours Bachelor of Science, Specialization Biology, Major in Psychology
	University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada
2001-2005	Ontario Secondary School Diploma
	Beaver Brae Secondary School, Kenora, Ontario, Canada

## RESEARCH EXPERIENCE:

2010	Field and Lab Research Assistant- Black-capped Chickadee project,
	Queen's University Biological Station, Elgin, ON
2009	Field Research Assistant- Song Sparrow project,

# Queen's University Biological Station, Elgin, ON

## VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE

2010-2011	Fall Migration Bird Banding Assistant
	Holiday Beach Migration Observatory, Essex, Ontario

## TEACHING EXPERIENCE

- 2010 Graduate Teaching Assistant- Cell Biology University of Windsor
- 2011 Graduate Teaching Assistant- Human Physiology University of Windsor
- 2012 Graduate Teaching Assistant- Organisms and the Environment, University of Windsor

## HONOURS THESIS

 Baker, T.M. 2010. The role of breeding experience in patterns of syllable sharing among male song sparrows, Melospiza melodia. Honours thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada. Supervised by E.A. MacDougall Shackleton

## CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- Baker, T.M., Wilson, D.R. & Mennill, D.J. 2011. Angry birds: Do vocal signals predict attack in black-capped chickadees? Poster presentation at Behaviour 2011: The joint meeting of the Animal Behaviour Society and the International Ethological Conference, Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana, United States.
- Baker, T.M. 2010. The role of breeding experience in patterns of syllable sharing among male song sparrows. Oral presentation at Ontario Biology Day, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.